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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND QRIGINAL {IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Fourth Baptist Church is a monumental, temple-form structure of stuccoed brick
located at 2800 P Street in the Church Hill section of Richmond. Erected in 1884 in the
Greek Revival style, the building is fronted by a distyle portico in antis elevated on a
high podium. The podium is covered by a cast~stone veneer applied in 1964. The porch
is approached by a pair of granite steps which turn at right angles to form a central
stair. The stair features elaborate cast-iron rails flanked by two cast—iron lamp
standards, The front yard of the church is enclosed by a cast-iron fence.

_ The main (south) elevation consists of two unfluted Doric columns and paired
pilasters supporting anumstudied Doric entablature. The portico shelters the main double
doorway with paneled wooden doors. The doorway is framed by a ramped architrave. The
entrancesinto the antae contain single -paneled doors.

The west elevation consists of six bays. A side entrance is provided in the south-
west bay of the basement story. Basement fenestration has 8/8 hung-sash windows and is
covered by a cast-stone veneer that replaces the original stucco covering on all
elevations. The elevation's first story contains segmental arched openings with stained-
glass windows. The second story features semicircular arched openings also with stained-
glass windows. Each bay is differentiated by pilasters that support an unstudied
" entablature.

The east elevation is similar to the west with the exception of a hyphen which
connects the church teo a modern Sunday School building, erected in 1964. The north
elevation contains an apse of one bay. Fenestration consists of segmental arched
openings with 6/6 hung-sash windows and basement-story 2/2 casement windows.

Unlike the exterior, the interior largely reflects late Victorian stylistic influence.
The sanctuary is dominated by a large oak and metal pipe organ, set between pilasters.
The pulpit is also constructed of raised panel oak, and is complemented by the original
oak furniture. The altar mirrors the pulpit in execution. The oak scroll-end pews retain
their original finish, and the balcony above the main (south) entrances contains simply
finished wood pews. Stained-glass windows vary in theme. The four northern-most windows
contain portraits of past church notables, including the Reverend Scott Gwathmey, the

first pastor.

RCC

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

The Fourth Baptist Church property of one acre is bounded on the south by P Street,
on the west by 28th Street, on the north by an alley that runs directly behind the church,
and on the east by the Sunday School building which is connected to the church by a
hyphen. The north, south, west boundaries are the same as when the church was orlglnally
built. The eastern boundary, the Sunday School building of 1964, is a modern imtrusion.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Fourth Baptist Church is significant both as an expression of Richmond's
conservative architectural taste during the late 19th century and as a symbol of the
social, religious, and economic conditions of blacks following emancipation. Erected in
1884 on the northern edge of the Church Hill neighborhood, the church boasts a stylish
Victorian interior behind a plain but dignified Greek Revival facade. The choice of the
Grecian mode may have been influenced by the neighboring Leigh Street Baptist Church
designed by Samuel Sloan, for it was in the basement of that older Greek Revival building
that the Fourth Baptist Church was organized. The facade, with its distyle portico in
antis, also closely resembles the 01d First Baptist Church by Thomas U. Walter. 014
First Baptist was Richmond's parent Baptist church whose design influenced a number of
later buildings in the city.

Between 1820 and 1860, Richmond was one of the country's leading tobacco centers.
From its inception, the city's tobacco industry was totally dependent on black labor for
its work force. As production demands increased, manufacturers were required to hire
slaves and freed blacks to fill their labor needs. The hiring system flourished, and
contributed to the city's large antebellum black population. The slaves and freed blacks
worked in the factories six days a week and on the seventh day enjoyed freedom of worship.
Most Richmond blacks were Baptists and vastly outnumbered the whites within their
churches,

Richmond's Baptist churches at first were organized to allow for the active participa-
tion of their black constituents. Black deacons, elected by the entire congregation,
assisted white pastors and deacons as a liaison within the black congregation. Albeit
committed to slavery and calling upon its slave menmbers to be obedient servants, the
church viewed slaves as, "persons whose souls God prized, and who, therefore, ought to be
sober, pr?perly married, taught Christian truths, and treated humanely by their temporal
roanteoa,

The first formal organization of a black church occurred in 1841 when the First
Baptist Church decided to build a new church for themselves and sell the old one to the
blacks within their congregation., The First Afvican EBaptist Church was thus created in
1841 as a separate Baptist congregation, The new First African Baptist Church constitution
stipulated that the pastor must be white, nominated by a white superintending committee and
approved by the black deacons. The white committee was to oversee the black church's
affairs. Robert Ryland, president of Richmond College, was the first pastor. The First
African Baptist Church was extremely successful, and served as the model for three
successive black churches: Second African Baptist Church, 1845; Ebenezer in 1858; and
the Fourth Baptist in 1861. ‘ '

The black churches followed the precedents established by the First African Church.
The pastor and deacons formed the governing body, guided the congregation and enforced a
strict moral code, The congregation supported charitable work from monthly contributions.
' (See Continuation Sheet {#1)
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8. SIGNIFICANCE

From weekly penny collections came the money for church maintenance and expenses. Public
concerts by the choir contributed to the church revenue. Richmond's blacksentered the
Reconstruction, a "process of creating something new in a slaveless world. . . (&ith pre-
conceived| notions about freedom, moral sensibilities, work habits, familial and communal
ties, and modes of collective activity."z'VWhile these notions were strongly influgfced by
their earlier experience as church members, it was only in post-bellum tlme§ that acks
ained full control of their churches with the unfettered right to name their own pastors,
%orm Sunday schools, etec.

The Fourth Baptist Church traces its beginnings to the regular assembly of slaves in
their quarters for prayer meetings. In 1861 the services were transferred to the basement
of the Leigh Street Baptist Church. In June 1865 blacks gained full control of their
church institutions. The Reverend Scott Gwathmey, one of the prayer leaders, saw the need
for more formal organization, something which was achieved when the Fourth Baptist Church
was founded on December 2, 1865 while meeting in the barracks of the Union soldiers on
Chimborazo Hill. .

The 1875 the congregation was able to erect a frame building on a site purchased on
32nd Street. The present church building was completed in 1884 on a site purchased on
P Street.

VDS/RC

i
S 0'srien, Journal of Southern History, p. 522

0'Brien, p. 536.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION
Beginning at a point 1250' E of State Route 33; 3100' NNE of the intersection of said route

and U.S. Route 60; on E side of 28th Street; thence extending approximately 175' ESE; -
thence extending about 200' SSW to P Street; thence extending almost 200" WHNW along N side
of said street; thence extending approx:.mately 200' NNE along E side of 28th Street to
point of orlg}.n.
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